FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/25/2019 4:54 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/28/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>97805-1</u> (COA No. 77707-6-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIA WALKER,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
C.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005)4, 5
State v. Solis-Diaz, 187 Wn.2d 535, 387 P.3d 703 (2017)9
Washington Court of Appeals
State v. Lemke, 7 Wn. App. 2d 23, 434 P.3d 551 (2018)7, 8, 10
United States Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment
Sixth Amendment9
Washington Constitution
Article I, § 229
Statutes
RCW 9.94A.6604, 5
Court Rules
RAP 13.3(a)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)

Other Authorities

In re the Honorable Joseph Wilson, Public Actions 2018 (State of Washington Commission on Judicial Conduct May 11, 2018)10

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Bria Walker, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Walker seeks review of the decision by the Court of Appeals dated July 29, 2019, for which reconsideration was denied on September 25, 2019. Copies are attached as Appendix A and B.

C. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

A court's categorical refusal to consider a sentencing alternative constitutes a disregard of the law. A court also abuses its discretion when it displays unprofessional bias toward a criminal defendant when presiding over a case. The Court of Appeals recently chastised this same judge for unnecessarily hostile behavior toward a defendant who was also asking for a DOSA.¹ Should this court grant review where the judge's behavior denied Ms. Walker her right to an impartial

¹ State v. Lemke, 7 Wn. App. 2d 23, 434 P.3d 551 (2018).

proceeding before a judge who meaningfully exercises discretion, raising an issue of substantial public importance?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Bria Walker entered into drug treatment court after she was arrested for stealing property while homeless and unemployed. CP 53, 80-81, 187.

When welcoming her to drug court, Judge Joseph Wilson pressed Ms. Walker to explain why she used drugs but interrupted her as she struggled to articulate her feelings, repeatedly calling her explanation "bullshit." 2/8/17RP 16-17. The judge brusquely told her, "Just quit using" drugs and informed her that he would not tolerate any relapses. *Id.* at 17, 20.

Several months later, this judge terminated Ms. Walker from drug court for failing to comply with its requirements, including positive UA's and a new arrest. CP 39-40. Following a stipulated bench trial, the court found Ms. Walker guilty as charged. 9/15/17RP 3.

At sentencing, Ms. Walker asked the court to impose a prison-based DOSA. 11/3/17RP 9. Defense counsel explained Ms.

Walker had never served any significant prison sentence before, so the prison portion of a DOSA would be a substantial term of confinement for her. 11/3/17RP 9. A detailed DOSA/Risk Assessment reported prepared by the Department of Corrections agreed she was eligible for a DOSA. CP 188.

Counsel further explained the true benefit of a DOSA was the long-term supervision it offered, which would best serve both Ms. Walker and the community. 11/3/17RP 9. Without long-term and closely monitored supervision, Ms. Walker would not have the tools she needed to change her path once she served a term in prison. *Id*. Ms. Walker and her mother both told the court Ms. Walker was committed to addressing her serious addiction and her need for help. 11/3/17RP 11, 16.

However, Judge Wilson refused to impose a DOSA and instead ordered she serve the maximum possible prison sentence. 11/3/17RP 12. He said that her termination from drug court showed she was not qualified for a DOSA sentence. *Id.* at 11-13. Instead, he said would impose a long sentence as a way to get her to change. *Id.*

The facts are further explained in Appellant's Opening Brief, in the relevant factual and argument sections, and are incorporated herein.

E. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review because the trial court refused to impose a DOSA for impermissible reasons, while exhibiting unprofessional hostility, presenting an issue of substantial public importance.

A court may never categorically refuse to consider a DOSA sentence for an eligible individual and may not deny this sentence for impermissible reasons. *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d 333, 337-38, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005).

The DOSA program authorizes trial judges to give eligible nonviolent drug offenders a reduced sentence, treatment, and increased supervision in an attempt to help them recover from their addictions. *Id.* at 337; see generally RCW 9.94A.660.

Under this program, the court imposes a prison sentence of one-half the midpoint of the standard range sentence. *Id*.

While in prison, the individual receives chemical dependency treatment. RCW 9.94A.660(5)(a). Once the person completes the total confinement part of the sentence, he serves the rest of the

sentence in closely monitored community supervision and treatment. RCW 9.94A.660(2). But if a person fails to comply with the conditions of a DOSA, even while in prison, DOC may administratively revoke the drug-treatment program and require the person to serve the remainder of the sentence in prison. RCW 9.94A.660(8)(c); *Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d at 338.

The statute provides the court with mandatory criteria to evaluate in determining eligibility. RCW 9.94A.660.

An offender is eligible for the special drug offender sentencing alternative if:

- (a) The offender is convicted of a felony that is not a violent offense or sex offense and the violation does not involve a sentence enhancement under RCW 9.94A.533 (3) or (4);
- (b) The offender is convicted of a felony that is not a felony driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug under RCW 46.61.502(6) or felony physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug under RCW 46.61.504(6);
- (c) The offender has no current or prior convictions for a sex offense at any time or violent offense within ten years before conviction of the current offense, in this state, another state, or the United States;
- (d) For a violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act under chapter 69.50 RCW or a criminal solicitation to commit such a violation under chapter 9A.28 RCW, the offense involved only a small quantity of the particular controlled substance as determined by the judge upon

consideration of such factors as the weight, purity, packaging, sale price, and street value of the controlled substance;

- (e) The offender has not been found by the United States attorney general to be subject to a deportation detainer or order and does not become subject to a deportation order during the period of the sentence;
- (f) The end of the standard sentence range for the current offense is greater than one year; and
- (g) The offender has not received a drug offender sentencing alternative more than once in the prior ten years before the current offense.

RCW 9.94A.660(1).

Ms. Walker met the criteria for a DOSA. A DOSA Risk Assessment Report explicitly stated her eligibility. CP 188. It described her history of drug dependence, starting from pain medication she received in 11th grade. CP 186. She struggled to hold a job, lost custody of her son, and lived on the streets with prostitution and criminal activity as necessary tools to support herself. CP 186-87. A DOSA would supply her with critical support, under the threat of prison.

The sentencing court refused to impose a DOSA by relying on her drug court termination to deem her ineligible. It stated that a therapeutic setting will not "do you any good, because the therapeutic setting that we've had you in the

different modalities does not change your behavior." 11/3/17RP 11-12.

Instead of balancing test the interests at stake in a DOSA, the judge ambiguously ruminated, "You're still running, and you don't even know what you're running from. But I know what you're running from, you're running from yourself, whether you admit it or not, that's what you're running from." (11/3/17) RP 12. The judge told her "[U]ntil you're ready to forgive yourself, until you're ready to accept yourself, there's nothing left for you out here." 11/3/17RP 13.

While this case was pending on appeal, the Court of Appeals chastised this same judge, who was also presiding over drug court, for his demeaning and unprofessional treatment of a drug court participant. State v. Lemke, 7 Wn. App. 2d 23, 434 P.3d 551 (2018). This judge similarly refused a request for a DOSA sentence, after terminating a defendant from drug court, and acted with unacceptable hostility and coarseness during these proceedings. Id. at 27-28.

As Lemke explains, in all court proceedings,

Judges have a duty to conduct themselves with respect for those they serve, including the litigants who come before them. "A judge who manifests bias or prejudice in a proceeding impairs the fairness of the proceeding and brings the judiciary into disrepute." Code of Judicial Conduct, Canon 2 cmt. 1. Epithets and slurs are manifestations of bias or prejudice. Code of Judicial Conduct, Canon 2 cmt 2.

Id. at 27.

This judge displayed similarly unreasonable hostility toward Ms. Walker, even if his language was not as coarse as in *Lemke*.

When admitting Ms. Walker into drug court, Ms. Walker explained the reason she has been using drugs since she was fourteen is because she is an addict. 2/8/17RP 8. The judge interrupted her and hostilely responded, "That's no reason. If that was the reason, you already have the answer, I'm an addict, and you wouldn't use. If you believe that you're an addict, then you know you can't use, so you wouldn't use. So that's obviously not the reason." *Id*. He then asked her "Uncomfortable now?" *Id*. She responded no, and he said, "I haven't even begun yet." 2/8/17RP 8-9.

When asking Ms. Walker why she did drugs, the judge also interrupted saying, "Bullshit." 2/8/17RP 17.

During sentencing, Ms. Walker expressed she would continue fighting her addiction. 11/3/17RP 11. The court again called her a liar for saying, "I'm not going to stop fighting," and instead told her, "you stopped fighting a long time ago. You just have." *Id*.

The sentencing court recognized that Ms. Walker had a serious drug dependency; she met the DOSA eligibility requirements; and she wanted to get better, but the court refused to grant her a DOSA because of her termination from drug court. But it refused to consider her request for a DOSA because of its belief that once being terminated from drug court, a person cannot receive a DOSA.

Its demeaning and unreasonably hostile treatment of Ms. Walker, belittling her rather than meaningfully considering her request for a DOSA, denied Ms. Walker her right to a fair proceeding before an impartial judge who meaningfully exercises discretion.

"Under the state and federal constitutions, a criminal defendant has the right to be tried and sentenced by an impartial court." State v. Solis-Diaz, 187 Wn.2d 535, 539, 387 P.3d 703 (2017); see also Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. A judge not only has to be impartial but must also "appear" to be impartial. Solis-Diaz, 187 Wn.2d at 540. A proceeding is valid under the fairness doctrine only if a "reasonably prudent, disinterested observer" would conclude the hearing was fair and impartial. Id. Where the record shows a judge's bias, the appellate court should remand, and resentencing proceedings should be held before a new judge. Id. at 541.

Furthermore, "[n]o judge wielding the power of the State in any courtroom" may curse and demean litigants. *Lemke*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 27. The "informal and confrontational culture of drug court" does not permit a judge to use slurs, epithets, or otherwise show personal animosity toward parties. *Id*.

The Commission on Judicial Conduct recently
admonished this same judge for calling a defendant "an animal"
at a sentencing hearing. *In re the Honorable Joseph Wilson*,
Public Actions 2018 (State of Washington Commission on

Judicial Conduct May 11, 2018),

https://www.cjc.state.wa.us/index.php?page=activity§ion=public_actions&year=2018#8662. The Commission found the judge violated Canon 1 of the Code of Judicial Conduct (Rules 1.1 and 1.2) and Canon 2 (Rules 2.2, 2.3, 2.6, and 2.8). *Id.* The Commission also determined the judge's "confrontation and harsh manner" conveyed "the impression that a ruling is made out of emotion or personal preference, rather than reason and impartial accordance with the law." *Id.*

The judge's similar unexplained hostility towards Ms.

Walker during drug court influenced its decision to deny the DOSA. Here, any objective observer could reasonably question the judge's impartiality and failure to appear impartial.

The sentencing court abused its discretion by refusing to assess Ms. Walker for a DOSA and instead categorically denying her because it deemed her drug court termination rendered her incapable of rehabilitation through treatment. It treated her in an unreasonably hostile fashion in the course of these proceedings. Substantial public interest favors review when the

judge categorically refused to consider a DOSA application from an eligible person based on personal bias.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Bria Walker respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).