FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/18/2019 10:52 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97805-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BRIA BEATRICE WALKER,

Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

# **

# I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, respondent, asks this court to grant review of issue (3) set out below. The State asks the court to deny the petitioner's request for review of issue (1). If the court does grant review of that issue, the State asks the court to also review issue (2).

# II. ISSUES

### A. ISSUES RELATING TO DENIAL OF DOSA

- (1) [Raised by petitioner:] "Should this court grant review where the judge's behavior denied Ms. Walker her right to an impartial proceeding before a judge who meaningfully exercises discretion, raising an issue of substantial public importance?" [The respondent asks the court to deny review of this issue.]
- (2) [Conditionally raised by respondent:] When a party is aware of a basis for challenging a judge's impartiality, can she withhold any challenge, await the judge's ruling, and then raise the challenge on appeal if the ruling is adverse? [The respondent asks the court to consider this issue only if it grants review of issue (1).]

## B. ISSUE RELATING TO LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

(3) [Raised by respondent:] RCW 2.30.030(5) grants trial courts discretion to waive or reduce drug court fees if the defendant

is indigent. Did the 2018 amendments to a different statute amend this statute *sub silentio*, so as to *require* sentencing courts to waive drug court fees for indigent defendants? [The respondent asks the court to grant review of this issue, regardless of its disposition of the other issues.]

# III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. ACCEPTANCE INTO DRUG COURT

On February 3, 2016, the defendant (petitioner), Bria Walker, stole a purse from a gym locker. The purse hold the owner's keys and wallet. The defendant drove away from the gym in the owner's car. She then used the owner's credit cards at four nearby businesses. 1 CP 80-81.

On December 1, an information was filed charging the defendant with second degree possession of stolen property, theft of a motor vehicle, and two counts of second degree identity theft. 1 CP 183-84. On February 8, 2017, she was accepted into Adult Drug Treatment Court (ADTC). CP 168. Her treatment contract included the following provision:

I agree to pay a non-refundable participant fee regardless of the amount of time I spend in the program. Participant fees must be paid in full prior to my successful completion of the ADTC. If I am terminated from the program, any unpaid fees may be entered as a judgment against me and bear interest like any other judgment debt.

1 CP 164.

A Final Acceptance Hearing was set for the afternoon of February 8. 1 CP 168. Several participants, including this defendant, were involved in this hearing. The judge pointed out the circularity of the defendant's rationale for continuing to use drugs: she used them because she was an addict, and she was an addict because she used them. The judge asked her if she was "uncomfortable." The defendant said that she wasn't. The judge responded, "I haven't even begun yet." 2/8 RP 8-9.

The judge challenged the participants' excuses for continued drug use. When the defendant said that she used drugs for the lifestyle, the judge said that this was "bullshit." The defendant then admitted, "It's uncomfortable for me to be clean." 2/8 RP 17.

The judge told the participants that to get off drugs, they had to confront the voice within themselves that said that they didn't deserve to be clean and sober. It would be the hardest thing they would ever do in their lives, but there was no other path. 2/8 RP 19-20.

The judge asked the defendant when she started using drugs. She said when she was 13. The judge replied:

Thirteen. You have no idea who you are, which is kind of sad. But it's kind of cool in the sense that now you can define who you want to be. They say that until your brains are fully developed at the age of 25, if you dump a bunch of mood into the mild-altering [sic] substances on top of it, it stops the natural growth and progression.

So I got a ... 13 year old in a 27-year-old body over here, who's trying to search and find out who she is, but the beauty of it is you can write your own damn story if you have the courage to do so.

2/8 RP 20-21. He concluded by welcoming her to drug court. 2/8 RP 25.

#### B. DRUG COURT TERMINATION AND SENTENCING

Between August 9 and 11, the defendant violated her treatment conditions by using methamphetamine, failing to appear for a urine test, missing a group session and a doctor's appointment, and failing to appear for court. A warrant was issued for her arrest. 1 CP 39. On September 3, she was arrested for shoplifting. In her purse, the arresting officer found items that are used to prepare and smoke heroin. 1 CP 47.

As a result of these violations, the defendant was terminated from Drug Court. She was then found guilty at a stipulated trial.

9/15 RP 2-3; 1 CP 39-40. The court authorized a delay of sentencing to obtain a DOSA assessment. 9/15 RP 3-4.

The assessment report listed four occasions when the defendant had been through inpatient drug treatment. 2 CP 186. It noted that she had been convicted of similar crimes in 2014 and sentenced to 14 months in prison. On release, she returned to her drug addicted, criminal lifestyle. She had also demonstrated a pattern of participation in organized criminal activity that targeted individuals and businesses. The report recommended against a DOSA sentence. 2 CP 188.

In imposing sentence, the court pointed out that the defendant had been through multiple treatment modalities. She had previously been through King County Drug Court. The judge concluded that she had not "given [her]self any permission to be clean and sober." 11/3 RP 11-13. The court imposed sentences at the top of the standard sentence ranges, for a total of 57 months' confinement. The court also imposed a \$900 drug court fee, \$500 victim assessment, \$200 filing fee, and \$100 DNA fee. All other fees were waived. 11/3 RP 13-14; 1 CP 20. No objection was raised to any of these financial assessments.

On appeal, the defendant challenged the denial of a DOSA sentence. She also objected to the imposition of financial obligations other than the victim assessment. The court upheld the trial court's decision to deny DOSA. Slip op. at 4-13. Based on legislation enacted since the defendant's sentencing, the court struck the filing fee and the DNA collection fee. Slip op. at 14-15. (The State is not challenging this portion of the decision.)

The court also struck the drug court fee. It recognized that the subsequent legislation did not "directly affect" RCW 2.30.030(5), the statute dealing with such fees. "But it amended RCW 10.01.160(3) to prohibit sentencing courts from imposing discretionary costs on indigent defendants." Based on the amendment to that other statute, the court held that the defendant's indigence prevented imposition of a drug court fee. Slip op. at 14-15.

The State moved for reconsideration. It pointed out that court's had both misinterpreted RCW 10.01.160(3) and turned it into an unconstitutional amendment. The court denied the motion for reconsideration without explanation.

# IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' APPLICATION OF THE ESTABLISHED TEST FOR JUDICIAL BIAS DOES NOT CREATE AND ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

In her petition for review, the defendant claims that the sentencing judge was biased against her. The Court of Appeals concluded that she had "fail[ed] to establish that a reasonable person might question the impartiality of the superior court judge." Slip op. at 13. That is the standard set out in this court's decisions: "The test for determining whether the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned is an objective test that assumes a reasonable observer knows and understands all the relevant facts." State v. Solis-Diaz, 187 Wn.2d 535, 540 ¶ 6, 387 P.3d 703 (2017). The petition does not claim that any different test should apply. See PRV at 10 (citing Solis-Diaz). The application of a well-established legal standard does not warrant review by this court.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals was correct in rejecting the defendant's claims. The judge did not exhibit any "unreasonable hostility" towards this defendant. To the contrary, in welcoming her into drug court, he spoke of her opportunity to "define who you want to be." 2/8 RP 20. But he refused to accept her excuses for her criminal lifestyle. He called one justification "bullshit" — and the

defendant immediately admitted that it was false. 2/8 RP 17. He suggested that she should be "uncomfortable" with her reasons for using drugs. 2/8 RP 8-9. That is the purpose of Drug Court — to end the participants' drug usage and accompanying criminal behavior. If a participant is comfortable with her lifestyle, why would she change?

The Final Acceptance Hearing was the first stage in the therapeutic process of Drug Court. The judge used this opportunity to discuss what the participants needed to do to end their drug-addled lifestyles. 2/8 RP 21-24. In doing so, he used some coarse language and allowed others to do the same. See 2/8 RP 15 (participant said that he uses drugs "[t]o not deal with shit"). In a therapeutic session, it may be appropriate to communicate with drug abusers in the language that they are accustomed to using. But even if this court considers it inappropriate, it is not evidence of bias.

The petitioner claims that the sentencing court improperly denied a DOSA sentence "because it deemed her drug court termination rendered her incapable of rehabilitation through treatment." PRV at 11. She cites no authority that it is improper to deny DOSA based on a single valid reason. Cf. State v. Grayson,

154 Wn.2d 333, 342 ¶ 17, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005) ("categorical denial" of DOSA is improper). Even if that were improper, however, the record does not support the petitioner's factual claims. Even after the defendant's termination from Drug Court, the same judge authorized a delay of sentencing to obtain a DOSA evaluation. 9/15 RP 3-4. In denying DOSA, the judge pointed to the multiple occasions that she had chosen to return to drug use after going through treatment. 11/3 RP 11. Ultimately, the judge simply did not believe that the defendant was committed to changing her behavior: "[Y]ou haven't, in any respect, given yourself any permission to be clean and sober." 11/3 RP 12.

The judge was entitled to make that determination. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the sentencing court's decisions reflected neither bias nor an abuse of discretion. That holding does not warrant review.

B. IF THIS COURT GRANTS REVIEW OF THE PETITIONER'S CLAIM OF JUDICIAL BIAS, IT SHOULD ALSO CONSIDER WHETHER A PARTY WHO IS AWARE OF THE BASIS FOR SUCH A CLAIM CAN HOLD IT IN RESERVE AGAINST AN UNFAVORABLE RULING.

If this court nevertheless decides to review that issue, it should consider whether the defendant's claim of bias can be raised for the first time on appeal. Most of the incidents supporting the defendant's claim relate to the judge's actions at the time she was formally accepted into drug court. These incidents were, of course, well known to the defendant prior to sentencing. Yet she made no effort to obtain a change of judge.

According to Division Three of the Court of Appeals, claims under the "appearance of fairness" doctrine are not constitutional and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.

Once a basis for recusal is discovered, prompt action is required. Delaying a request for recusal until after the judge has issued an adverse ruling is considered tactical and constitutes waiver.

State v. Blizzard, 195 Wn. App. 717, 725–26 ¶ 13, 381 P.3d 1241 (2016), review denied, 187 Wn.2d 1012 (2017) (citations omitted). In the present case, however, Division One examined the petitioner's claims on the merits before deciding that they were not "manifest" and could not be raised. Slip op. at 6-7, 13.

The procedure followed here is particularly disturbing in light of defense counsel's remarks at sentencing. He told the judge that the defendant had "kind of surrendered to the Court and to you" and would "absolutely be at peace with whatever decision you make today." 11/3 RP 10-11. If these remarks were sincere, they indicate that counsel did *not* consider the judge to be biased. If

counsel did believe that the judge was biased, then he was apparently trying to flatter him into imposing a lenient sentence, while reserving the right to complain if the sentence was unfavorable.

When a party is aware of a basis for claiming judicial bias, she should be required to bring that claim to the court's attention. Otherwise, parties have a strong incentive to save such claims as insurance against unfavorable rulings. Such a procedure is unfair to the judge, opposing parties, and the judicial system itself. If this court grants review of the defendant's claim of bias, it should also consider whether the claim can be raised in this fashion.

# C. THIS COURT SHOULD REVIEW THE COURT OF APPEALS' DISREGARD OF A STATUTE THAT SPECIFICALLY ALLOWS IMPOSITION OF THERAPUETIC COURT FEES ON INDIGENT DEFENDANTS.

Although this court should not review the decision to deny DOSA, it should review the Court of Appeals' reversal of drug court fees. That decision disregards a statute and increases the financial burden on local jurisdictions, rendering it less likely that drug courts will exist at all.

This case is squarely governed by RCW 2.30.030. That statute authorizes therapeutic courts, such as the drug court involved in this case. Such courts are to "incorporate the therapeutic court principles of best practices as recognized by state and national therapeutic court organizations in structuring a particular program." Among other things, such practices may include "[e]nsuring a sustainable program." RCW 2.30.030(4)(i).

The statute expressly addresses the imposition of fees on indigent participants: "Upon a showing of indigence under RCW 10.101.010, fees may be reduced or waived." RCW 2.30.030(5). The statute thus clearly indicates that fees *may* be imposed when a participant is indigent. It lies within the discretion of the court to impose the fees, reduce them, or waive them entirely. In doing so, the court can take into account the needs of that particular program and best practices for that kind of program.

There are obvious reasons that may explain why the legislature chose not to provide an automatic fee waiver for indigent program participants. To begin with, it is likely that *most* drug program participants will be indigent. Automatically waiving fees for them would usually mean that there would be no participant fees at all. This would increase the financial burden on local jurisdictions,

making it more difficult for them to establish or maintain such programs.

Automatic fee waivers may also conflict with best practices for therapeutic programs. It is well known that people tend to undervalue things that are "free." Moreover, if payment is excused for anyone who is terminated from the program, that practice would create a financial incentive for failure. These reasons counsel against any rigid rule, such as the one created by the Court of Appeals. Rather, the extent to which indigence should excuse payment is properly left for each judge to decide.

The Court of Appeals relied on the 2018 enactment concerning legal financial obligations. Laws of 2018, ch. 269. Chapter 269 amended several specific statutes dealing with specific types of obligations. In particular, it precluded imposition of several kinds of obligations on indigent defendants. Id. § 6 (costs), § 12 (appellate costs), § 16 (criminal conviction fee in courts of limited jurisdiction), § 17 (criminal filing fee). The legislature did not, however, amend RCW 2.30.030. Consequently, that statute remains unchanged: it authorizes courts to waive or reduce drug court fees for indigent participants, but it does not require such waiver.

The Court of Appeals nonetheless believed that the amendment in § 6 to RCW 10.01.160(3) "prohibit[ed] sentencing courts from imposing discretionary costs on indigent defendants." Slip op. at 15. There are two fundamental problems with this reasoning. First, RCW 10.01.160(3) does not refer to "discretionary costs." Rather, it deals with "costs." That term is specifically defined in the statute: "Costs shall be limited to expenses specially incurred by the state in prosecuting the defendant or in administering the deferred prosecution program under chapter 10.05 RCW or pretrial supervision." RCW 10.01.160(2). Drug court fees are not "costs" under this definition. Rather, they are a component of a therapeutic court program that is specifically authorized by a different statute.

Second, if Chapter 269 implicitly amended RCW 2.30.030, that would violate Const., art. 2, § 37: "No act shall ever be revised or amended by mere reference to its title, but the act revised or the section amended shall be set forth at full length." RCW 2.30.030 is not set out at full length (or even mentioned) in Chapter 269. Consequently, it could not have been amended by that Chapter.

Article 2, § 37 has two purposes. One is to "avoid confusion, ambiguity, and uncertainty in the statutory law through the existence of separate and disconnected legislative provisions,

original and amendatory, scattered through different volumes or different portions of the same volume." Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183, 245, 11 P.3d 762 (2000). The other is to ensure that "legislators are aware of the nature and content of the law which is being amended and the effect of the amendment upon it." Id. at 246. Both of these purposes would be violated by an implicit amendment to RCW 2.30.030. That statute expressly gives courts discretion to impose therapeutic court fees on indigent participants. A person reading that statute would not know that another statute could be interpreted as taking away that discretion. Nor would legislators voting on Chapter 269 have any way to know that they might be making it more difficult to operate therapeutic courts by removing part of their funding.

Article 2, § 37 is not violated by an act that is "complete in itself, independent of prior act, and stands alone as the law on the particular subject of which it treats." The test for a complete act is whether "the scope of the rights or duties created or affected by the legislation action can be determined without referring to any other statute or enactment." Amalgated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 246. Chapter 269, however, does not stand alone as the law governing legal financial obligations. Rather, it amends several statutes

dealing with specific kinds of assessments. Other kinds of assessments continue to be addressed by other statutes that were not amended.

In particular, a court's power to assess therapeutic court fees cannot be determined solely by reading Chapter 269. That issue must be determined by consulting another statute, RCW 2.30.030. Since Chapter 269, is neither complete of itself nor independent of other statutes, it cannot be construed as amending statutes that are not set forth in the chapter. Any such construction would violate Article 2, § 37.

Although the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished, that fact means less than it once did. Unpublished decisions can now be cited and "accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate." GR 14.1(a). It is likely that a specific decision from the Court of Appeals will be highly persuasive to trial courts. The effect of the decision is to make it unlikely that drug court fees will be assessed in future cases.

The Court of Appeals has disrupted the carefully-crafted scheme for therapeutic courts. In place of the legislature's specific grant of judicial discretion, the court has substituted an arbitrary rule that no costs can be imposed against indigent defendants —

which is almost all of them. This creates an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals' decision, however, goes even further. The court has created a broad rule that RCW 10.01.160 applies to all kinds of "discretionary costs." Such a rule is not justified by any language in that statute. If the statute did establish such a rule, it would be unconstitutional. It would be an attempt to amend other statutes without proper notice to the public or legislators, in violation of art. 2, § 37. The constitutional violation created by the Court of Appeals gives rise to a significant question of constitutional law that should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

# V. CONCLUSION

This court should deny the defendant's petition for review. The court should grant the State's petition under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). The decision of the Court of Appeals should be reversed insofar as it struck the drug court fees. In other respects, the decision should be affirmed.